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SANCTIONS AGAINST ACCOUNTANTS FOR VIOLATIONS
OF THE SECURITIES LAWS: A REAPPRAISAL
By STuART A. MARGOLiS*
I. INTRODUCTION: TnE

ACCOUNTANT'S FUNCTION

T HE ACCOUNTANT has been described as a "public watchdog."'
The integrity and stability of corporations are maintained by
2
having a mechanism for measuring and comparing their performance.
The goal of any auditing system should be to achieve an objective and
independent evaluation of corporate activity. This paper will focus on
the extent to which objectivity and independence have been achieved
by the accounting profession. The inquiry will then examine the
sanctions available to deal with past deviations from these goals and
to deter future violations by analyzing accounting practices in the
securities field. Industry, administrative and judicial controls will be
considered. Finally, the paper will identify problems and inconsistencies in the current system for dealing with accounting misconduct.
A United States Senate subcommittee, headed by the late Senator
Lee Metcalf (D-Mont.), completed the first extensive compilation of
data on the accounting establishment in 1976.: The profession is
dominated by eight international entities known as the 'Big Eight." 4
The influence exerted by such firms is exercised directly by their market
position, indirectly through their dominance of smaller independent
organizations and through the prestige afforded by their clientele."
Clients are provided with management advice, tax advice, audits and
other accounting services.8 However, the most important function of
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the accountant is the conduct of the independent audit and the issuance
of an accountant's opinion with respect thereto. Investors rely on
certified financial statements and such statements play an important
role in most business decisions. The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) has stated that the independent public accountant is
responsible,
not only to the client who pays his fee, but also to investors,
creditors and others who may rely on the financial statements
which he certifies ....
The public accountant must report fairly on the facts as
he finds them whether favorable or unfavorable to his client.
His duty
is to safeguard the public interest, not that of his
7
client.
Regulation by the SEC, pursuant to statutory authority,8 requires
an independent auditor's opinion for virtually every contemplated corporate action.' An accountant's opinion typically states:
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements
present fairly the financial position of XYZ Corporation at
December 31, 1977, in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles consistently applied. Our examination
of these statements was made in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards and accordingly included such
tests of the accounting records and other auditing procedures
as we consider necessary in the circumstances.'
Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and generally
accepted auditing standards (GAAS) are critical to establishing objective guidelines for evaluation of a corporation's financial condition.
They are established by the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB), a panel of experts supported by the industry and professional
organizations. However, there has been a lack of agreement and objectivity in accounting standards, as documented by Professor Abraham
accounting firms not perform management advisory services and other nonaccounting

tasks for the public corporations which they audit These services and other factors

(e.g., artificial professional restrictions against advertising) were cited as imposing
restraints on entry by smaller firms into the market for auditing of public corporations. Id. at 16-18.

7. In re Touche, Niven, Bailey & Smart, 37 S.E.C. 6291 670-71 (1957) (footnote

omitted).

Courts have seized upon this language in determining whether an accountant

is liable in civil actions. See Fischer v. Ketz, 266 F. Supp. 180 (S.D.N.Y. 1967).
8. Securities Exchange Act of 1934 § 13(a) (2), 15 U.S.C. § 78m(a) (2) (1976).
9. See, e.g., Securities Exchange Act of 1934 §§ 10 & 17, 15 U.S.C. §§ 78j & q
(1976).
10. This is a typical example of how an opinion is closed. Phraseology may
vary somewhat.
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Briloff.

Furthermore, self-regulation by the industry has been preempted by the SEC and Cost Accounting Standards Board.'2 This
preemption implies that FASB standards are minimum guidelines for
the careful auditor 1 8 The industry analysis which follows indicates
that self-regulation, especially with respect to setting technical accounting principles, is doomed to failure. It is obviously not in the Big
Eight's interest to establish rigorous standards through the FASB
when deviation therefrom would result in substantial liability. The
present situation highlights the dimensions of the inaccuracies which
may be inherent in data compiled pursuant to GAAP. The auditor is
usually faced with alternative accounting methods which he may use
in presenting a particular financial situation.. However, Professor
Brioff has argued that current and proposed accounting standards do
not guide an accountant to make the fullest disclosure from the viewpoint of the investor or outsider trying to ascertain a corporation's
financial condition:
Where do we find a mandate to the auditor to determine and
apply the fairest of the alternative GAAPs which may be
available in the particular circumstances? Where is the
auditor exhorted to ferret out those "events and transactions"
which might be contrived, designed by management fo produce a particular appearance, and to make abundantly clear
that these events and transactions are to be given only limited
significance by the users of the statements? 1 4
In addition to the problem of objectivity of accounting statements,
auditors must retain their independence from the entity being reviewed.
Clearly, the objectivity and independence problems are integrally re11. A. Banorr, Moan DEnrrs TnAlr CEanrrs (1976); A. Bamwm, UNAccoUmTAccouNn-G (1972). The major problems with such standards relate to revenue
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recognition. See Briloff, We Often Paint Fakes, 28 V&m. L. Ray. 165 (1975).
12. Suncommnn m Sry, stpra note 3, at 15-19.
13. In making his statement to Congress, Professor Briloff quoted Professor
Maurice Moonits historical analysis of the APB and its predecessor, the CAP:
Will FASB succeed where other attempts to effectively set accounting
principles have failed? According to Moonitz [a former Director of Research for the APB], "The history of the numerous attempts to set
standardt . . . tells us that the Achilles heel of the FASB is its reliance

on voluntary cooperation." Such reliance, he says, is "illusbry Accordingly, "The key agencies to watch are the SEC and the Cost Accounting
Standards Board. As long as both of them cooperate fully and completely
the FASB will prosper. But, as soon as one of them should undercut it, the
new standards board will replicate the history of the (CAP and APB) .. .
Standing alone the FASB cannot succeed."
Suncom.nnr
STmyn, supra note 3, at 1616. See Strother, The Establishment of
Genzerally Accepted Accounting Principlesand Generally Accepted Anditing StandardA,

28 VAaM. L. Rzv.201 (1975).
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lated although the latter has been treated as a separate subject. One
commentator explained the independence function in its historical
context:

The accounting profession has had a somewhat easier
task in reconciling conflicting principles because historically
it has always been thought that auditors should exercise a
measure of independence from their client. Thus, for the accountant the problem has been not one so much of reconciling
conflicting principles, as confirming and strengthening historically established independence. Through the years, the

greatest dangers to that independence have been the facts that
auditors' clients pay their fees and that auditors can be fired.
At the time of adoption of the Securities Act of 1933, Congress clearly contemplated that the auditors who expressed
opinions with respect to financial statements contained in
registration statements would be independent. At that time
a proposal was seriously considered by Congress which would
have required that such statements be certified by federally
employed auditors. Only because of the strong assurances of
representatives of the accounting profession that the task
could be well done by independent auditors did Congress retreat from that position. I think it is fair to infer from this
that it was the expectation of Congress that the independence
of the auditors would be as full as if there were federal
auditors on the job.Y5
The foregoing discussion has outlined the goal of an effective
auditing system: to produce an objective and independent evaluation
of corporate activity expressed through the use of financial statements.
This ideal has not been attained. Four sanctions are available to control such accountant misconduct: self-regulation, SEC administrative
proceedings, private damage suits and SEC injunctive actions, and
criminal proceedings.

II. SANCTIONS WITHIN THE PROFESSION
The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(AICPA) is a professional organization with a membership of more
than 110,000 CPAs. The Metcalf subcommittee study of the accounting establishment has characterized the accounting profession as
"largely self-regulated" and has found that the Big Eight control the
15. Sommer, Professional ResPonsibility: How Did We Get Heref, SO Bus. LAw.

95, 97 (1975).
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AICPA. ' The national firms exert influence in the AICPA power
The
structure far beyond numerical membership representation.'
study states:
Congress and the public should recognize the partisan
and political nature of the AICPA when evaluating its influence on accounting practices promulgated or approved by
the Federal Government. Under the control of the "Big
Eight" accounting firms, the AICPA sets auditing standards
and maintains control over the setting of accounting standards
which have substantial impact on the public and the Federal
Government. Many other areas of public policy affecting
accounting and business are controlled or heavily influenced
by the AICPA.18
The AICPA has organized the Financial Accounting Foundation
(FATF) and, with other private interest groups, has co-sponsored the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), established in 1972,
which sets accounting standards. The SEC has provided that principles and practices of the FASB will be treated as having "substantial
authoritative support" when the SEC considers whether a financial
statement has been prepared in accordance with accepted accounting
principles. sD The subcommittee study asserts that such professional
groups are not suited to control accounting standards which affect both
the government and the public.2 0 The heavy influence of Big Eight
firms in the regulatory scheme is critical since those entities are precisely the ones whose misconduct could have the greatest impact on
the public. 2'
Since the AICPA is a private organization, its action does not
affect the legal ability of an accountant to continue practicing in the
profession. Sanctions imposed by the AICPA, therefore, have only
limited effects within the profession. However, the AICPA refers
cases in which it has taken disciplinary action to state accounting
16, Suncomum= STUDY, sufa note 3, at 9.
17. The council controlling the AICPA consisted of 31% Big Eight CPAs in
1976 while these firms accounted for 15% of the AICPA membership. Similar results
respect to other AICPA governig bodies. Sucoz.n-ran STUr,
are found with
mrpra note 3, at 10.
18. Id. at 13.
19. SEC Accounting Series Release No. 150, 17 C.F.R. 211 (1978). See Arthur
Andersen v. SEC, [1975-1977 Transfer Binder] FED. SEc. L. Ra,. (CCH) V95,720
(N.D. Ill. Sept. 3, 1976).
20. Sutcom.srsn Srumy, supra note 3, at 13. The AICPA, FAF, and FASB
are discussed in detail, id. at 9-17.
21. Professor Briloff characterized the FASB as follows: "[w]hile that board
is independent on paper, its principal reliance on the profession's oligopoly for funding
and other support subject it to pressures corresponding to those on the AICPA, and
the erstwhile APB." Id. at 1655.
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boards who may then suspend a CPA's license to practice as an independent auditor. The AICPA submits its investigation -file to the
state board to facilitate action by the latter. The state board may also
act on its own initiative with respect to accountant misconduct 22 With
these obvious limitations on the effectiveness of AICPA sanctions in
mind, such actions will be considered.
In response to an inquiry from Senator Metcalf, the president of
the AICPA outlined the sanctions used by the AICPA to discipline
its members.2 8 AICPA bylaws provide for automatic and discretionary disciplinary action. They mandate automatic termination of
membership of persons criminally convicted of: (1) any felony; (2)
failure to file any personal income tax return required to be filed by
law; or (3) preparation or filing of a fraudulent income tax return
for a client.24 Further, if a state CPA board has suspended or revoked a member's state CPA certificate, the AICPA will take the
same action with respect to AICPA membership.25 Appendix I contains a table of all automatic actions taken by the AICPA since 1970.
Since the AICPA's automatic action is predicated on a criminal
conviction or prior action by a state CPA society, this action merely
reinforces sanctions imposed by pther authorities. There is no evidence that independent policing and investigation of accouritant misconduct is undertaken. Furthermore, a conviction for certain felonies
(e.g., murder) is not a reflection upon an accountant's ability to conduct an independent, objective audit.
The AICPA Professional Ethics Division is also authorized to
charge members with violations of AICPA bylaws and the Code of
Professional Ethics. After a hearing a member found guilty may be
expelled, suspended for up to two years or admonished. The trial
board, pursuant to AICPA bylaws, must decide whether the hearing
report which is published in the AICPA membership periodical (The
CPA) will identify the name of the member concerned. 20 Appendix
II contains a table describing all AICPA discretionary disciplinary
22. Id. at 898. Disciplinary action by state accounting boards could not be
located. This information would be valuable since state boards control licensing of

CPAs and could provide effective regulations if resources were allocated to it for the
purpose of policing the profession.
23. Id. at 879.
24. Id. Convictions for other crimes are considered by the AICPA in discretionary actions. See text accompanying notes 27-28 infra.
25. SUsco MMr
STUDY, mpra note 3, at 879. Reversal of a conviction or
other action upon which AICPA disciplinary sanctions were predicated will result in
reinstatement of AICPA membership pursuant to the organization's bylaws. See
Appendix I.
26. Suncommrrnn STUDY, m.pra note 3, at 885.
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actions, including reinstatement, since 1970. The following chart,
compiled by Professor Briloff, summarizes these actions.
For conviction of bribery
For failure to file (or for false
filing) of personal returns
Because of revocation of member's
certificate by his state-licensing
body
For conviction of grand larceny,
embezzlement extortion, theft,
and corresponding high crimes
For failing to disclose (or for false
disclosure) to the SEC or IRS
For conviction of mail fraud
For lack of independence
For moral turpitude and other
undisclosed crimes
For solicitation and advertising
For violation of securities laws
For fraud on CPA exams
For failure to pay for securities
For obstructing justice
For failure to acquire sufficient
information
For filing false reports with HUD
For inadequate disclosure in
footnotes
For substandard auditing

A total of

16
13
15
7
6
5
4
4
3
2
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
8227r

Discretionary sanctions have been used most frequently in connection with prior criminal conviction for those crimes which do not
require automatic actions.&" If a member commits a crime from this
second category, there is likely to be a discretionary procedure resulting in a finding of guilt and subsequent expulsion. Such instances
usually involve bribery or fraud convictions. Again, the AICPA
action reinforces other societal sanctions and does not serve as an
independent means of policing members' professional behavior.
27. Id. at 1647-48.

28. See note 24 msra.
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Advertisement and solicitation violations have generally resulted
in findings of guilt, but the sanction has often been merely to admonish or suspend the offender.
Material negligence in the conducting or reporting of a financial
examination, failure to disclose information, and discreditable actions
have been the subject of numerous discliplinary hearings. Even upon
findings of guilt, however, the sanctions administered have been slight.
Moreover, although publication of the offender's name in The CPA
is ordered in almost all cases cited earlier, such a sanction is rarely
ordered in situations involving material negligence, omissions, and
discreditable acts.
The AICPA disciplinary sanctions are invoked only in cases
where some governmental entity has already identified and often has
already penalized the member's conduct. Thus the "self-regulation"
aspect of AICPA proceedings is minimal when conduct has usually
been condemned already by an authority outside the profession.
The sanction of publication in the profession's major periodical
seeks to stigmatize the conduct and may be an effective tool against the
individual; however, the effect is limited to readers of the publication,
absent further publicity.
Other less formal actions can also be taken by the AICPA:
[T]he professional ethics division can also issue letters of
administrative censure with respect to cases where it has
found a minor violation which does not appear to warrant
convening a trial board hearing panel. There is no provision for publication of these actions and a member receiving
an administrative censure can request that the trial board
adjudicate the ethics division's conclusion and action. 9
Appendix III contains a table of these actions taken by the AICPA
since 1970. A paucity of information makes a more complete analysis
impossible."0
Accounting misconduct is often the result of problems within the
institutional structure as well as individual behavior,3 ' but only individuals may be members of the AICPA. 2 Thus, disciplinary action
may only be taken against individuals and not against firms as entities.
Although temporary suspension, expulsion, or less formal procedures
might be an effective sanction against firms, none of these measures
STUDY, supra note 3, at 897.
30. The AICPA has instituted a joint ethics enforcement plan to investigate and
improve technical standards. Id. at 898-99.
31. This issue has been considered in administrative proceedings under 17 C.F.R.
§ 2012(e) (1978). See text accompanying notes 40.44 infra.
32. SUBcoM=sE.rE STUDY, mtpra note 3, at 879.

29. Sunco -nnran
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are presently available. Furthermore, publication of the violation
under a firm vzame in The CPA magazine might actually create a
corporate entity stigma. 3
Although the AICPA has no legal authority to prevent an accountant from continuing in practice, self-regulation could be effective if vigorously pursued and referrals made to state accounting
boards. The data suggests that AICPA actions have rarely been invoked against influential members associated with the Big Eight.
Sanctions are normally imposed after an independent governmental
agency has disciplined an AICPA member. Thus, the record of
"self-regulation" by the AICPA can be characterized as a charade.
The Metcalf subcommittee has recommended in its report that
an accounting organization be formed which would be authorized to
impose sanctions for violations of its rules, similar to the New York
Stock Exchange or National Association of Securities Dealers. To be
effective such an organization must possess "the power to impose
sanctions on errant members which directly affect their continued ability to audit [publicly owned] corporations." 3 4
III. SEC RuLE 2(e) ADMINISTRATVE PROCEEDINGS
The SEC is given the authority to set guidelines for accounting
rules and procedures.35 The SEC, pursuant to rule 2(e) of its rules
of practice,36 may deny an accountant the privilege of appearing or
practicing as a representative before it. After notice and hearing, the
33. See Kadish, Some Observations on the Use of CriminalSanctions h; Enforcig
Economic Regulations,30 U. CHL L. Rzv. 423, 434 (1963), as cited in 1 L. OaR..,

CoaRoPA

Cpam 224, 235 (1977).

34. SucomrnmT . REmoar, supra note 6, at 11. The report recognizes that
self-regulation, even if vigorous, may never be sufficient to provide some necessary
information to the public such as existence of auditor conflicts of interest. Id. at 12.
A further voluntary effort by corporations was proposed by the Metcalf subcommittee in the form of independent audit committees composed of outside directors.
Id. at 13. It does not appear that such cohmittees would adequately perform the
policing function necessary to protect the public.
35. Securities Exchange Act, of 1934 § 13 (a), 15 U.S.C. § 78m (a) (1976). The
validity of rule 2e proceedings was recently upheld in Touche, Ross & Co. v. SEC
[1978] FED. Sc. L. RrM. (CCH) 1196,415 (April 24, 1978).
36. 17 C.F.R. § 2012(e) (1978) [hereinafter cited as rule 2(e)] provides:
(e) Suspension and disbarment. (1) The Commission may deny, temporarily or permanently, the privilege of appearing or practicing before it in
any way to any person who is found by the Commission after notice of and
opportunity for hearing in the matter (i) not to possess the requisite qualifications to represent others, or (ii) to be lacking in character or integrity
or to have engaged in unethical or improper professional conduct, or (iii) to
have willfully violated, or willfully aided and abetted the violation of any
provision of the Federal securities laws (15 U.S.C. sees. 77a to 80b-20), or
the rules and regulations thereunder.
(2) Any attorney who has been suspended or disbarred by a Court of
the United States or in any State, Territory, District, Commonwealth, or
Possession, or any person whose license to practice as an accountant,
engineer or other expert has been revoked or suspended in any State, Territory, District, Commonwealth, or Possession, or any person.who has been
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SEC may temporarily or permanently suspend any person whom it
finds:
convicted of a felony, or of a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude, shall
be forthwith suspended from appearing or practicing before the Commission.
A disbarment. suspension, revocation or conviction within the meaning of
this subparagraph (2) shall be deemed to have occurred when the disbarring,
suspending, revoking or convicting agency or tribunal enters its judgment or
order, regardless of whether appeal is pending or could be taken, and includes
a judgment or order on a plea of nolo contendere.
(3) (i) The Commission, with due regard to the public interest and without preliminary hearing, may by order temporarily suspend from appearing
or practicing before it any attorney, accountant, engineer, or other professional
or expert who, on or after July 1, 1971, has been by name:
(a) Permanently enjoined by any court of competent jurisdiction by
reason of his misconduct in an action brought by the Commission from
violation or aiding and abetting the violation of any provision of the Federal
securities laws (15 U.S.C. sees. 77a to 80b-20) or of the rules and regulations
thereunder; or
(b) Found by any court of competent jurisdiction in an action brought
by the Commission to which he is a party or found by this Commission in
any administrative proceeding to which he is a party to have violated or
aided and abetted the violation of any provision of the Federal securities laws
(15 U.S.C. secs. 77a to 80b-20) or of the rules and regulations thereunder
(unless the violation was found not to have been willful). An order of temporary suspension shall become effective when served by certified or registered
mail directed to the last known business or residence address of the person
involved. No order of temporary suspension shall be entered by the Commission pursuant to this subdivision (i) more than three months after the
final judgment or order entered in a judicial or administrative proceeding
described in (a) or (b) of this subdivision (i) has become effective upon
completion of review or appeal procedures or because further review or appeal
procedures are no longer available.
(ii) Any person temporarily suspended from appearing and practicing
before the Commission in accordance with subdivision (i) of this subparagraph
(3) may, within thirty days after service upon him of the order of temporary
suspension, petition the Commission to lift the temporary suspension. If no
petition has been received by the Commission within 30 days after service of
the order by mail the suspension shall become permanent.
(iii) Within 30 days after the filing of a petition in accordance with
subdivision (ii) of this subparagraph (3), the Commission shall either lift
the temporary suspension or set the matter down for hearing at a time and
place to be designated by the Commission or both, and after opportunity for
hearing, may censure the petitioner or may disqualify the petitioner from
appearing or practicing before the Commission for a period of time or
permanently. In every case in which the temporary suspension has not been
lifted, every hearing held and other action taken pursuant to this subparagraph
(3) shall be expedited in every way consistent with the Commission's other
responsibilities.
(iv) In any hearing held on a petition flied in accordance with subdivision (ii) of this subparagraph (3), the staff of the Commission shall show
either that the petitioner has been enjoined as described in subdivision (i) (a)
of this subparagraph or that the petitioner has been found to have committed
or aided and abetted violations as described in subdivision (i) (b) of this
subparagraph and that showing, without more, may be the basis for censure
or disqualification; that showing having been made, the burden shall be upon
the petitioner to show cause why he should not be censured or temporarily
or permanently disqualified from appearing and practicing before the Commission. In any such hearing the petitioner shall not be heard to contest any
findings made against him or facts admitted by him in the judicial or administrative proceeding upon which the proceeding under this subparagraph
(3) is predicated, as provided in subdivision (i) of this subparagraph. A
person who has consented to the entry of a permanent injunction as described
in subdivision (i) (a) of this subparagraph (3) without admitting the facts
set forth in the complaint shall be presumed for all purposes under this sub-
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(i) not to possess the requisite qualifications to represent
others, or (ii) to be lacdng in character or integrity or to

have engaged in unethical or improper professional conduct,

or (iii) to have willfilly violated, or willfully aided and
abetted the violation of any provision of the Federal securities laws (15 U.S.C. secs.
77a to 89b-20), or the rules and
37
regulations thereunder.
A temporary suspension may be entered without a hearing if the

accountant has been permanently enjoined by a court for his misconduct or found in a judicial or administrative proceeding to have violated the federal securities laws, or aided or abetted a violation thereof.3 s
If the suspended person does not petition the SEC to lift the suspension, it becomes permanent." If a petition is filed the SEC may revoke the suspension or order a hearing. At such a hearing the
burden is then shifted to petitioner to show cause why he should not
be censured or disqualified 4 0
A person who has been suspended through the procedure described above may apply to the SEC to be reinstated if: (1) the conparagraph (3) to have been enjoined by reason of the misconduct alleged in
the complaint.
(4) (i) An application for reinstatement of a person permanently sus-'
pended or disqualified under subparagraph (1) or (3) of this paragraph (e)

may be made at any tim% and the applicant may, in the Commission's dis-

cretion, be afforded a hearing; however, the suspension or disqualification
shall continue unless and until the applicant has been reinstated by the
Commission for good cause shown.
(ii) Any person suspended under subparagraph (2) of this paragraph (e)
shall be reinstated by the Commission, upon appropriate application, if all
the grounds for application of the provisions of that subparagraph are subsequently removed by a reversal of the conviction or termination of the suspension, disbarment or revocation. An application for reinstatement on any
other grounds by any person suspended under subpatagraph (2) of this
paragraph (e) may be filed at any time and the applicant shall be accorded
an opportunity for a hearing in the matter; however, such suspension shall
continue unless and until the applicant has been reinstated by order of the
Commission for good cause shown.
(5) Any person, appearing or practicing before the Commission who has
been the subject of an order, judgment, decree, or finding as set forth above
shall promptly file with the Secretary of the Commission a copy thereof
(together with any related opinion or statement of the agency or tribunal
involved). Failure to file any such paper shall not impair the operation of
any other provision of this paragraph (e).
(6) Any proceeding brought under any of the above subparagraphs shall
not preclude a proceeding under any other subparagraph.
(7) All hearings held under this paragraph (e) shall be nonpublic unless
the Commission on its own motion or the request of a party otherwise directs.
37. Rule 2(e) (1), supra note 36.
38. Rule 2(e) (3) (i), supra note 36.
39. Rule 2(e) (3) (ii), supra note 36.
40. Rule 2(e) (e) (iii), supra note 36. Findings of fact against petitioner in a
prior judicial or administrative proceeding may not be contested at the suspension
hearing. Rule 2(e) (3) (iv), supra note 36. However, the SEC will consider mitigating factors. See Gonson, Disciplinary Proceedings and Other Remedies Available
to the SEC, S0 Bus. LAw. 191 (1975).
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viction which formed the basis of suspension is reversed, or (2) the
time period of a temporary suspension has passed. 4 '
The SEC may invoke rule 2(e) procedures alone or in conjunction with other sanctions." Historically the overwhelming majority
of rule 2(e) proceedings have been against individual accountants 3
However, these sanctions occasionally have been applied to entire accounting firms even though rule 2(e) does not expressly impose vicarious liability on entities or colleagues. Firms have been suspended
from practice before the SEC for periods of up to one year.4 4 The
severity of suspending a firm has been criticized since this sanction
penalizes clients and colleagues who may be lacking in culpability.
41. Rule 2(e) (4), supra note 36.
42. See Memorandum from SEC general counsel to its chairman, Suscomurrm
STUDY, stpra note 3, at 1471. One commentator has counseled professionals to consider consequences of rule 2 (e) proceedings as part of settlement negotiations when
defending an injunctive action brought by the SEC. Gonson, supra note 40, at 199.
43. For individual suspensions and disqualifications, see, e.g., Philip J. Wolfson,
SEC Accounting Series Release No. 215 (May 9, 1977), 5 FED. Smn. L. RE. (CCH)
f 72,237; Marvin F. Rosenbaun, SEC Accounting Series Release No. 214 (May 2,
1977), 5 Fan. San. L. REP. (CCH) 72,236; Maurice Rosen, SEC Accounting Series
Release No. 213 (May 2, 1977), 5 Fan. San. L. REP. (CCH) 1[ 72,235; Eugene Testa
& W. A. Stebbins, SEC Accounting Series Release No. 212 (April 18, 1977), 5
FED. San. L. Rrp. (CCH) 72,234; E. Veon Scott, SEC Accounting Series Release
No. 204 (January 7, 1977), 5 FED. SEc. L. REP. (CCH) 1[72,226; Philip Shelby
Merkatz, SEC Accounting Series Release No. 202 (November 24, 1976), 5 Fn.
Sa_. L. REn. (CCH) 172,221; Charles H. Southerland, SEC Accounting Release No.
182 (November 12, 1975), 5 FED. SEc. L. REP. (CCH) f 72,204. Oftentimes, an individual will resign from practice before the SEC. See, e.g., Wilbert S. Fox, SEC
Accounting Series Release No. 217 (May 16, 1977), 5 Fa. Smn. L. PEP. (CCH)
1172,239; John W. Hasford, d/b/a John W. Hasford & Co., SEC Accounting Series
Release No. 216 (May 16, 1977), 5 Fan. SEc. L. REP. (CCH) 1172,238; Bernard C.
Zippein, SEC Accounting Series Release No. 208 (February 10, 1977), 5 FFa. Sac.
L. RaP. (CCH) IT72,230; Bill D. Steele, SEC Accounting Series Release No. 187
(December 15, 1975), 5 FED. SEc. L. REP. (CCH) 1172,209.
44. See, e.g., Hertz, Henson & Co., SEC Accounting Series Release No. 176
(July 22, 1975), 5 Fan. SEtc. L. REP. (CCH) IT72,198; Peat, Marwick, Mitchell &
Co., SEC Accounting Series Release No. 173 (July 2, 1975), 5 FED. SaC. L. RaP.
(CCH) f[72,195; Westheimer, Fine, Berger & Co., SEC Accounting Series Release
No. 167 (December 24, 1974), 5 FaD. Sac. L. REP. (CCH) 1172,189; Arthur Andersen
& Co., SEC Accounting Series Release No. 157 (July 8, 1974), 5 Fan. San. L. RP.
(CCH) f 72,179; Touche, Ross & Co., SEC Accounting Series Release No. 153
(February 25, 1974), 5 Fan. San. L. REP. (CCH) 1172,175; Laventhol Krekstein
Horwath & Horwath, SEC Accounting Series Release No. 144 (May 3, 1973), 9
Fm. SEc. L. REP. (CCH) ff 72,166; Touche, Niven, Bailey & Smart, SEC Accounting
Series Release No. 78 (March 25, 1957), 5 Fan. SEc. L. Ra. (CCH) 72,100. See
also Isbell, An Overvdew of Accountants' Duties and Liabilities Under the Federal
Securities Laws and a Closer Look at Whistle-Blowing, 35 011o ST. L.J. 261, 266
n.33 (1974). Generally, small firms have been suspended. Larger firms have been
censured by the SEC or have been subjected to quality control review. In SEC
Accounting Series Release No. 78, the firm of Touche, Niven, Bailey & Smart was
suspended from practice before the SEC for fifteen days. Because of their greater
bargaining position and potential severity of even temporary suspensions, larger firms
tend to reach settlements with the SEC. See, e.g., S. D. Leidesdorf & Co., SEC
Accounting Series Release No. 209 (February 16, 1977), 5 Fan. SEc. L. RP. (CCH)
1172,231; Sedman & Seidman, SEC Accounting Series Release No. 196 (September 1,
1976), 5 FED. SEn. L. Ran. (CCII) 1172,218; Peat, Marwck, Mitchell & Co., SEC
Accounting Series Release No. 173 (july 2, 1975), 5 Fan. San. L. REP. (CCH)
1 72,195; Laventhol, Krekstein, Horwath & Horwath, SEC Accounting Series Release
No. 144 (May 23, 1973), 5 Fan. SEc. L. Ran. (CCH) If72,166.
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The inflexibility of entity suspension further explains the infrequency
with which this sanction has been imposed. One commentator has
asserted:
[t]he impact of this penalty is, where a firm is concerned,
felt not merely by the firm but by its continuing clients, who
may thereby be prevented from making filings on time, getting registration statements effective, and the like. It is,
therefore, a rather blunt instrument; and the larger the
accounting firm, the thicker is its edge, and the larger the
number of clients that may be involved. Perhaps in part for
this reason, the suspensions of large firms have been of limited duration.45
Flexibility has been achieved through the threat of severe sanctions under rule 2(e) as a means of obtaining consent to other remedies, such as suspension of particular firm officers, "8 a prohibition
against taking new clients for a limited period,4 7 and submission to
quality control inspection by outside professionals. 48
The SEC decision-making process is unclear regarding whether
or not to institute rule 2(e) proceedings, against whom, and what
type of relief to seek. A recent memorandum from SEC General
Counsel Harvey Pitt to Chairman Roderick Hills sheds some light
on the Commission's approach. The General Counsel stressed the
remedial rather than the punitive nature of such proceedings so as to
protect the public in the future 4 9 Pitt asserted that rule 2(e) proceedings should not be instituted against individuals "where the problems sought to be remedial appear[ed] to result more from organizational defects than wrongdoing on the part of particular individuals." 50
45. Isbell, supranote 44, at 267.
46. SEC Accounting Series Release No. 153, miPra note 44. See Isbell, =Oura

note 44, at 267.

47. Isbell, suina note 44, at 267. In SEC Accounting Series Release No. 173,
mepra note 44, there is an extensive analysis of audit procedures of Peat Marwick,
Mitchell & Co. (PMM) which focuses upon its handling of National Student Marketing Corporation and other clients. The release addresses the problems of taldng on
a new audit client and the need to deemphasize formalities of accounting procedures in
order to ensure that financial statements as a whole reflect economic substance and
business realities. As part of the settlement, PMM was prohibited from accepting
new audit clients with respect to SEC filings for six months although the firm was
permitted to continue to represent its existing clients and service them in their SEC
activities.
48. SEC Accounting Series Release Nos. 196, 173 & 167, supra note 44. Peat
Marwick, Mitchell & Co., SEC Accounting Series Release No. 173A (May 9, 1977),
5 FED. SC.. L. RxP. (CCH) 172,195A, suggests that the review of PMM was less
sweeping than that originally ordered. It is obvious that review of auditing procedures by another Big Eight firm may not be very effective since both parties to the
review will be cognizant of the fact that their roles could be reversed in the future.
49. SuBcomiarz= STuDY, supra note 3, at 1472.
50. Id. at 1475.
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The memorandum described the SEC approach as follows:
In determining the appropriate remedy in a particular
case, the Commission does not have a precise set of guidelines
to follow. Rather, each proceeding is considered on a caseby-case basis which takes into account all of the relevant circumstances. These circumstances may include:
(1) the gravity of the misconduct or other professional
deficiency involved;
(2) whether the misconduct or deficiency arose in connection with appearing or practicing before the Commission;
(3) whether the problems which led to the proceeding
appear to result more from institutional faults than individual failings;
(4) the degree to which the misconduct or other deficiency casts doubt upon an individual's ability or willingness to perform competent and reliable professional
services in the future;
(5) whether the individual or firm involved has been
the subject of any previous enforcement action or Rule
2(e) proceeding brought by the Commission;
(6) the experience of the Commission's staff in conducting the investigation which led to institution of a
proceeding; and
(7) other similar considerations.
The most important question, however, is whether the
remedies are necessary or appropriate for the protection of
investors by preventing a recurrence of the problems which
led to institution of the proceedings under Rule 2(e).51
Several administrative and/or judicial proceedings may arise
from a single instance of securities misconduct. 2 If the relief is molded
to fit the particular type of misconduct, rule 2(e) proceedings can be
effective in meeting two goals: (1) to remedy defective institutional
procedures without litigation, and (2) to reinforce penalties for conduct which have already been condemned by prior judicial or adminnistrative action. Pitt's memorandum emphasized the increased
significance of rule 2(e) in the future. If the requirement of scienter
in Ernst & Ernst v. Hochlelder -was extended to SEC enforcement
51. Id. at 1476-77.
52. Id. at 1477-78.
53. 425 U.S. 185 (1976).
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actions as well as civil damage actions, the General Counsel reasoned
that the Commission would have to "place greater reliance upon Rule
2(e) ... as a means of preventing a recurrence of unethical or improper conduct." 54
IV. CIvn. LABmiTY
When plaintiffs injured through securities fraud violations are
unable to recover damages from an issuer (due to insolvency, for example) they often turn to accountants as a "deep pocket" from whom
to recoup their losses.
Several civil causes of action may be brought
against accountants, the most useful of which are based upon section
11 of the Securities Act of 1933 (Securities Act)"" and section 10(b)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act)."5
Liability under section 11 of the Securities Act relates to misrepresentations or omissions of material fact in the filing of a registration statement under section 5 58 of the Act. A right to sue is
given to a person acquiring a security with respect to which a materially false or misleading registration statement has been filed. The
falsity may be in the form of an affirmative misrepresentation or a
material omission. Suits must be "brought within one year after the
discovery of the untrue statement or the omission, or after such discovery should have been made by the exercise of reasonable diligence
....
.,
* No action may be brought more than three years after a bona
fide offer or sale of a security to the public00 Plaintiffs may recover
the full value of their investment, and the court may require payment of
costs, including reasonable attorney's fees. 0 '
Actions may be brought against:
every accountant, engineer, or appraiser, or any person whose
profession gives authority to a statement made by him, who
has with his consent been named as having prepared or certi54. SuncoszmnTm SruDY, zspra note 3, at 1472 n2.
55. See Miller & Subal, Inpact of Federal Securities Laws: Liabilities of
Offlcers, Directors,and Accountants, 30 Bus. LAW. 387, 391-92 (1975).
56. Securities Act of 1933 § 11, 15 U.S.C. § 77k (1976).
57. Securities Exchange Act of 1934 §10(b), 15 U.S.C. §78i(b) (1976).

Liability is based on rule l0b-5 promulgated thereunder. See notes 77-83 infra. The
SEC has authority to sue for injunctive relief to enjoin future violations of the

securities laws.

Securities Act of 1933 § 19, 15 U.S.C. § 77s (1976).

Distinctions

between the necessary elements of SEC injunctive actions and private damage actions
brought under similar provisions have not been clearly drawn so both areas will be
considered together.
58. Securities Act of 1933 § 5, 15 U.S.C. § 77e (1970). The ALI Draft Federal

Securities Code would extend this type of liability to issuer registration and reporting
documents required to be filed by the Exchange Act. ALI, FEDERAT SscuRrrxES
CODE, § 1403 (Tent. Draft No. 2, March 1973). See Isbell, supra note 44, at 264.
59. Securities Act of 1933 § 13, 15 U.S.C. § 77m (1976).

60. Id.

61. Securities Act of 1933 § 11(e), 15 U.S.C. § 77k(e) (1976).
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fled any part of the registration statement, or as having
prepared or certified any repqrt or valuation which is used in
connection with the registration statement, with respect to
the statement in such registration statement, report, or valuation, which purports to have been prepared or certified by
him ...

62

Various defenses are available to an accountant under section 11.
First, a defendant may show that plaintiff knew of the untruth or omission at the time of the acquisition of securitiesY3 Second, an accountant may prove that he resigned his position before the registration
statement became effective and that he notified the SEC thereof.", A
further withdrawal defense is permitted if the defendant withdrew,
notified the SEC, and gave reasonable public notice that the registration statement became effective without his knowledgeY' Third, and
most important, an accountant may pursue a due diligence defense
with respect to any "expertised portion" of the registration statement.
With respect to audited financial statements and the opinion issued
thereon, the accountant may show:
(i) he had, after reasonable investigation, reasonable ground
to believe and did believe, at the time such part of the registration statement became effective, that the statements
therein were true and that there was no omission to state a
material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to
make the statements therein not misleading, or (ii) such
part of the registration statement did not fairly represent his
statement as an expert or was not a fair copy of or extract
from his report or valuation as an expertY6
Section 11 of the Securities Act imposes a negligence standardreasonable investigation or due care.67 Escott v. BarChri Construc62. Securities Act of 1933 § 11(a) (4), 15 U.S.C. § 77k(a) (4) (1976). See
Fiflis, Cvrrent Problems of Accountants Responsibilities to Third Parties, 28 VAND.

L. Rm.31, 88-92 (1975).

63. Securities Act of 1933 §1 (a), 15 U.S.C. § 77k(a) (1976).

64. Securities Act of 1933 §11(b) (1), 15 U.S.C. §77k(b) (1) (1976).
65. Securities Act of 1933 §11(b) (2), 15 U.S.C. § 77k(b) (2) (1976).
66. Securities Act of 1933 § 11(b) (3), 15 U.S.C. §77k(b) (3) (1976). The due

diligence defenses are discussed at Annot., 2 A.L.R. Fed. 180 (1969).
67. "[T]he standard of reasonableness shall be that required of a prudent man in
the management of his own property." Securities Act of 1933 § 11(c), 15 U.S.C.
§ 77k(c) (1976).
There is no requirement under § 11 for plaintiff to prove fraud, because "'[c]ivil
liability under section 11 and similar provisions was designed not so much to compensate the defrauded purchaser as to promote enforcement of the Act and to deter
negligence by providing a penalty for those -who fail in their duties." Kusner v.
First Pa. Corp,

531 F2d 1234, 1240

(3rd Cir. 1976),

quoting Globus v.

Law

Research Sers, Inc., 418 F.2d 1276, 1288 (2d Cr. 1969), cert. denied, 397 U.S. 913
(1970).
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tion Co."8 is the leading case dealing with accountant liability under
section 11. In a registration statement prepared for a public offering
of debentures, audited and unaudited financial data was misstated and
omitted to create a more favorable outlook for the defendant corporation's future. Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co. (PMM) had performed an audit and later an "S-1 review" 69 prior to a delivery of a
"comfort letter" 70 to the underwriters. The district court found that
the review done by the accountants was inadequate in that there had
been material omissions and misrepresentations. This project was the
first major auditing assignment given to the auditor who was not a
C.P.A. The auditor had relied on answers given by directors to his
inquiries regarding questionable corporate financial data. The court
stressed that while due care did not require an auditor to uncover and
disclose every misleading financial datum, "there were enough danger
signals in the materials which he did examine to require some further
investigation on his part." 71
In reaching its conclusion that PMM failed to establish its due
diligence defense, the court stated, "[a]ccountants should not be held
to a standard higher than that recognized in their profession...
Generally accepted accounting standards required... further investigation under these circumstances." ra However, self-imposed generally
accepted accounting standards are likely to be minimal. 73 Failure to
meet even that low threshold indicates a lack of due care. Moreover,
civil liability is statutorily imposed and section 11 does not refer to
"generally accepted accounting standards." Therefore, although relevant to the inquiry respecting due care, compliance with standards of
common practice alone should not be a bar to imposing liability where
68. 283 F. Supp. 643 (S.D.N.Y. 1968).
69. Form S-1 is a registration statement filed under the 1933 Act. Accountants
have developed the "S-1 review" as a procedure short of a full audit to update
financial statements for an issuer about to make a public offering. 283 F. Supp. at
701-02.
70. The comfort letter for underwriters is a matter of contract between the
-parties, but usually includes specific representations by the auditor of his
independence, and compliance as to form with SEC requirements for audited
and interim unaudited statements, changes in certain items after year-end
and other financial data. The comfort letter usually is dated after the
offering date and at or shortly before the closing date. It ordinarily is
addressed to the lead underwriter and expressly is made exclusively for his
use without right of publication.
Fiflis, supra note 62, at 90.
71. 283 F. Supp. at 703. In a recent case, plaintiffs argued that accountants have
a continuing duty to inform investors of adverse corporate financial developments
after the date of a certified report. The court rejected this claim, stating, "The mere
possession of adverse financial information regarding a public company does not
require an independent auditor to disclose it" Ingenito v. Bermec Corp., 441 F. Supp.
525, 549 (S.D.N.Y. 1977).
72. 283 F. Supp. at 703.
73. See notes 8, 11, & 13 supra.
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accounting data contains a material untruth or omission. Indeed, the
SEC took this position previously in 1942 in regard to a claim of
inadequate disclosure. 4
Finally, accounting opinions are signed under the firm name so
that liability under section 11 is imposed on the entity as well as on
the individual. Although deficiency in an organization's auditing procedures sometimes is discussed, 75 most courts focus on the activity of
individuals during an audit.7"
Violations not involving a registration statement or prospectus
usually are litigated under section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange
Act and rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder which are anti-fraud
provisions.
It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly,
by use of any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, or of the mails, or of any facility of any national securities exchange,
(1) to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to
defraud,
(2) to make any untrue statement of a material
fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary in order
to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, or
(3) to engage in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or would operate as a fraud or
deceit upon any person,
in connection with the purchase or sale of any security. 7
Although neither the statute nor the rule provides for a civil remedy,
a private cause of action has been judicially implied.78
74. In re Associated Gas & Elec. Co., 11 SEC 975, 1058-59 (1942). Courts have
concurred in this view in criminal and civil cases. See, e.g., United States v. Simon,
425 F.2d 796, 805 (2d Cir. 1969); McLean v. Alexander, 420 F. Supp. 1057, 1085
(D. Del. 1976) ; Herzfeld v. Laventhol, Krekstein, Horwath & Horwath, 378 F. Supp.
112, 121 (S.D.N.Y. 1974).
75. 283 F. Supp. at 701 & 703.
76. Id. at 684-97.
77. 17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5 (1978).
78. The first case to imply a private right of action for violation of rule lOb-5
was Kardon v. Nation Gypsum Co., 69 F. Supp. 512 (E.D. Pa. 1946). See also
Superintendent of Ins. v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co., 404 U.S. 6, 13 n.9 (1971). The
Supreme Court has limited this remedy to purchasers and sellers by recognizing the
rule enunciated in Birnbaum v. Newport Steel Corp., 193 F.2d 461 (2d Cir.), cert.
denied, 343 U.S. 956 (1952). (This rule is known as the Birnbaum rule.) Blue Chip
Stamps v. Manor Drug Stores, 421 U.S. 723 (1975). More recently, the Supreme
Court held that an action based on rule lob-5 requires a showing of "deceptive' or
"manipulative" conduct in the traditional restrictive sense of those words. Sante Fe
Indus. v. Green, 430 U.S. 462 (1977).
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The leading case in this area is Er-,t & Ernst v. Hochfelder,7 1
in which the defendant was a Big Eight accounting.firm. A fraudulent securities scheme had been perpetuated on plaintiff-investors by
the president of First Securities, Leston B. Nay. Nay required investors to address correspondence to him personally; pursuant to his
"mail rule" only he opened the correspondence. Plaintiffs argued that
Ernst & Ernst should have discovered the mail rule by properly auditing First Securities, and that this rule was a material fact which
should have been disclosed in reports to the Midwest Stock Exchange
and the SEC as an irregular procedure that prevented an effective
audit. Plaintiffs also asserted that Ernst & Ernst had "aided and
abetted" Nay's securities violations by their conduct. The allegations
were based solely on the alleged negligence of Ernst & Ernst.
The United States Supreme Court held that a private cause of
action under rule lOb-5 requires proof of "'scienter'--intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud." o Several issues remain unresolved.
It is uncertain whether reckless behavior is sufficient to meet the scienter requirement; " although one district court has answered in the
affirmative.82 It is also uncertain whether a finding of scienter is a
necessary element in a SEC action for injunctive relief under rule
lOb-5.8 3
Rrust ended a pattern of increasing expansion for accountant liability."4 Plaintiffs seeking to recover for negligence on the part of
accountants must find a new basis for their actions. The Supreme
Court in Ernst did not address the issue of whether an accountant
79. 425 U.S. 185 (1976).
80. Id. at 193 (footnote omitted).
81. Id. at 193-94 n.12.
82. In McLean v. Alexander, 420 F. Supp. 1057 (D. Del. 1976), plaintiff sued
accountants who conducted an audit upon which plaintiff relied in purchasing the
audited cooration's stock. The court characterized the accountant's conduct as
follows: "His behavior embraces both actual knowledge of material facts not revealed
and reckless disregard for the truth [footnote omitted]." Id. at 1080 (footnote
omitted). The district court concluded: "Congress intended 10(b) to govern reckless,
knowing, or deliberate conduct, none of which are negatived by the defense of good
faith." Id. at 1081. Certainly, the Supreme Court will have the last word on this
subject.
83. 425 U.S. at 193-94 n.12. Since Erns, lower courts have split on this issue.
SEC v. Geotek [1976-1977 Transfer Binder] FED. SEc. L. REP. (CCH) [95,756
(N.D. Cal. Nov. 11, 1976) ; SEC v. Bausch & Lomb, Inc., 420 F. Supp. 1226
S.D.N.Y. 1976). See also SEC v. Capital Gains Research Bureau, Inc., 375 U.S. 180

(1963).

84. Note, Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder: Narrowing the Scope of Accon ztant'
ProfessionalLiability Under the Securities Laws, 6 CAP. U. L. RE~V. 683, 691 (1977);
Kramer, The Significance of the Hochfelder Decision., 46 C.P.A.J. 11, 12 (1976).
Recent cases stress the requirement of particularity in pleadings directed against
accountants; pleadings have been found impermissibly vague, conclusory, and lacking
factual basis. Weinberger v. Kendrich, 432 F. Supp. 316, 321 (S.D.N.Y. 1977) ;
Rich v. Touche, Ross &Co., 415 F. Supp. 95 (S.D.N.Y. 1976); Olech v. Fischer, 401
F. Supp. 651, 656 (S.D.N.Y. 1975).
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could be liable as "aiding and abetting" the rule 10b-5 violation of
another. 5 The decision suggests that civil liability for aiding and
abetting could only result when a rule 10b-5 cause of action already
existed and that scienter would also be required in such actions.8 6

As stated above, firms, not individuals, generally render accounting opinions with respect to financial statements and audits. By requiring the plaintiff to show that defendant had "an intent to deceive, manipulate or defraud," the decision leaves the issue of corporate
intent for future determination. Resolution of that question will be a
necessary prerequisite to finding accountants or firms liable under
rule lOb-5.87 Can the intent of one individual accountant to defraud
investors with respect to a particular transaction be imputed to his
accounting firm which may have hundreds of offices and thousands of
employees?

Does each branch office have a separate decision-making

structure upon which to base imputed intent?

Does the fact that

accounting firms are partnerships in form, although larger than many
corporations, affect liability under these circumstances?
One approach might be to focus on the mental element of the

individual accountant whose conduct violated the provision in issue.
If the individual's intention constituted a violation, that intention
would be attributed to the accounting entity and thereby permit a
successful cause of action to be pursued. Without such attribution of

intention, actions brought against the firm would be foreclosed.
The Ernst case precipitated interest in other methods of dealing
with securities misconduct. The SEC has argued that scienter is not
a necessary element in rule 10b-5 injunctive proceedings."8 The lower

courts have split on this issue."

The SEC also intends to institute an

increased number of rule 2(e) proceedings,9 although the accounting
series releases issued by the SEC since Ernt do not indicate any significant change in the number of such proceedings instituted. Perhaps
the most promising area in which to proceed against future accountant
85. 425 U.S. at 191-92 n.7. See Note. Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder: Narroing
the Scope of Accountants' Professional Liability Under the Securities Laws, muira
note 84, at 693.
86. 425 U.S. at 191-92 n.7. The Court appears to have misconstrued plaintiffs'
theory. They argued that Ernst & Ernst could be liable for aiding and abetting if
First Securities or Nay possessed the requisite scienter for a rule lob-5 cause of
action. The Court focused only on the accountants' liability and conduct and not as
derivative of the clientgs possible violations. It did not impute Nay's mental intention to Ernst.
87. See also United States v. Aluminum Co. of America, 148 F2d 416 (2d Cir.
1945), which concerns formulation of a corporate intent in the antitrust area.
88. SEC Memorandum from general counsel to staff attorneys and Chairman
Hills, SuncommnmrEB STuDy, s pra note 3, at 1484-508.
89. See note 83 supra.
rmn Srun,, supra note 3, at 1507-08.
90. Sumco
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misconduct is through statutory causes of action which, like section 11
of the Securities Act, do not require a showing of scienter.
Section 12(2) of the Securities Act 91 provides that a defendant
is liable if he offers or sells a security by means of a communication
which contains a material misrepresentation or omission. The negligence standard provides a defense if defendant proves "he did not
know, and in the exercise of reasonable care could not have known,
of such untruth or omission." 2 Section 12(2) actions generally require privity between defendant and plaintiff, a requirement which
impedes suit against an accountant for misleading information based
on an audit. 3 However, this provision has been used as a basis for
a claim against accountants as aiding and abetting another's violation.94
Accountants may also be sued under section 17(a) of the Securities Act ', for manipulative or deceptive offers or sales. While this
91. Securities Act of 1933 §12, 15 U.S.C. §771 (1976) provides:
Any person who. (1) offers or sells a security in violation of section 77e of this
title, or
(2) offers or sells a security (whether or not exempted by the pro-

visions of section 77c of this title, other than paragraph (2) of subsection (a) of said section), by the use of any means or instruments of
transportation or communication in interstate commerce or of the mails,
by means of a prospectus or oral communication, which includes an untrue
statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact necessary

in order to make the statements, in the light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading (the purchaser not knowing of
such untruth or omission), and who shall not sustain the burden of
proof that he did not know, and in the exercise of reasonable care could
not have known, of such untruth or omission,
shall be liable to the person purchasing such security from him, who may
sue either at law or in equity in any court of competent jurisdiction, to.
recover the consideration paid for such security with interest thereon, less the
amount of any income received thereon, upon the tender of such security, or
for damages if he no longer owns the security.

See Isbell, mtpra note 44, at 264 n-17.
92. Securities Act of 1933 § 12(2), 15 U.S.C. § 771(2) (1976). The statute of
limitations is the same as in § 11 actions. Securities Act of 1933 § 13, 15 U.S.C.
§77m (1976). Plaintiff may recover with interest any consideration paid for a
security sold in violation of § 12(2). Securities Act of 1933 § 12, 15 U.S.C. § 771(2)

(1976).

93. Compare Barlas v. Bear, Steams & Co., '64-66 CCH DEC. IT91,674 (N.D.
I1. 1966) with Free v. Szabo Food Serv., Inc., '6W-'64 CCH DEC. f 91,317 (N.D.
111 1964).
94. In re Caesars Palace Sec. Litigation, 360 F. Supp. 366 (S.D.N.Y. 1973).
95. Securities Act of 1933 § 16, 15 U.S.C. § 774 (1976) provides(a) It shall be unlawful for any person in the offer or sale of any
securities by the use of any means or instruments of transportation or com-

munication in interstate commerce or by the use of the mails, directly or
indirectly(1) to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud, or
(2) to obtain money or property by means of any untrue statement
of a material fact or any omission to state a material fact necessary in
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section resembles rule 10b-5, it provides relief only for an aggrieved
buyer of securities. However, scienter has not been held to be a
necessary element of section 17(a) actions, and the standard of liability has been described as requiring "something more than ordinary
negligence." " Since the statute does not specify this standard, it is
likely that the Supreme Court will follow Ernst and require scienter
in section 17(a) actions.
A new avenue was opened recently for lawsuits against public
accounting firms under section 17 of the Exchange Act, which requires
brokers and dealers to file financial reports and other information with
the SEC pursuant to administrative regulations. Touche, Ross & Co.
audited the records of Weis Securities, Inc., which was subsequently
liquidated. Plaintiffs who were Weis' trustee and Securities Investors
Protection Corp. asserted that they could sue under section 17 of the
Exchange Act for false and misleading information contained in audit
reports submitted pursuant to that provision. The district court rejected plaintiffs' contentions, finding no implied cause of action under
section 17 since such implication was not "necessary" to effectuate
Congress' goals. However, on appeal, the United States Court of
Appeals for the Second Circuit held that such a cause of action was
implied under section 17, emphasizing the "significant role" played by
certified public accountants in the securities regulatory scheme. The
United States Supreme Court granted certiorari in the matter. It is
anticipated that the Court will reverse the Second Circuit and refuse
to imply a private right of action against accountants under section 17
in conformity with its recent restrictive approach to such implicationyv
order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances
under which they were made, not misleading, or
(3) to engage in any transaction, practice, or course of business
which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon the purchaser.
(b) It shall be unlawful for any person, by the use of any means or
instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or
by the use of the mails, to publish, give publicity to, or circulate any notice,
circular, advertisement, newspaper, article, letter, investment service, or communication which, though not purporting to offer a security for sale, describes
such security for a consideration received or to be received, directly or indirectly, from an issuer, underwriter, or dealer, without fully disclosing the
receipt, whether past or prospective, of such consideration and the amount
thereof.
(c) The exemptions provided in section 77c of this title shall not apply
to the provisions of this section.
See Isbell, .rpra note 44, at 264 n. 18.
96. Isbell, =ipra note 44, at 264 n.18. See State Mut. Assurance Co. of America
v. Arthur Andersen & Co., [1971-72 Transfer Binder] FED. Sac. L. REP. (CCH)
93,217 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 10, 1971); Fischman v. Raytheon Mfg. Co., 188 F2d 783
(2d Cir. 1951) ; cf. Ellis v. Carter, 291 F2d 270 (9th Cir. 1961).
97. Redington v. Touche, Ross & Co., 428 F. Supp. 483 (S.D.N.Y. 1977), rezed,
46 U.S.L.W. 2598 (2d Cir.), cert. granted, 47 U.S.L.W. 3368 (U.S. 1978). The
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Under section 18(a) of the Exchange Act, a defendant may be
liable for having made a false or misleading statement in filing with
the SEC which resulted in plaintiff's purchasing or selling a security
in reliance on the statement. Plaintiff must prove reliance and causation. Defendant can escape liability by showing that he acted in good
faith and with lack of knowledge. Therefore, section 18(a) liability
is predicated upon a showing of fraud."' Furthermore, certain aspects
of the statute's provisions restrict its usefulness, such as permitting the
court to require plaintiff to post bond for costs, including attorney's
fees and providing for relatively short statutes of limitation.
The final federal civil damage action available against accountants
is a private implied right of action under section 14(e) of the Ex9 This provision deals with tender offers and misleading
change Act.P
statements made in the course of soliciting such offers. Thus far, no
accountant has been held liable under this provision.10 0 Since section
14(e) suits are implied causes of action, as are rule lOb-5 cases, it is
likely that scienter will be required here as well.
The Minnesota Supreme Court recently held an accountant liable
under state tort law in Bonhiver v. Graff.'0 ' Plaintiff was a receiver
Supreme Court's restrictive approach to implication of private rights of action is
exemplified by Cort v. Ash, 422 U.S. 66 (1975) and its progeny.
98. Securities Exchange Act of 1934 § 18, 15 U.S.C. § 78r (1976) provides:
(a) Any person who shall make or cause to be made any statement in
any application, report, or document filed pursuant to this chapter or any
rule or regulation thereunder or any undertaking contained in a registration
statement as provided in subsection (d) of section 78o of this title, which
statement was at the time and in the light of the circumstances under which
it was made false or misleading with respect to any material fact, shall be
liable to any person (not knowing that such statement was false or misleading) who, in reliance upon such statement, shall have purchased or sold a
security at a price which was affected by such statement, for damages
caused by such reliance, unless the person sued shall prove that he acted in
good faith and had no knowledge that such statement was false or misleading. A person seeking to enforce such liability may sue at law or in equity
in any court of competent jurisdiction. In any suit the court may, in its
discretion, require an undertaking for the payment of the costs of such suit,
and assess reasonable costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees, against
other party litigant.
(b) Every person who becomes liable to make payment under this section
may recover contribution as in cases of contracf from any person who, if
joined in the original suit, would have been liable to make the same payment.
(c) No action shall be maintained to enforce any liability created under
this section unless brought within one year after the discovery of the facts
constituting the cause of action -and within three years after such cause of
action accrued.
See Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 211-12 n.31 (1976). In Fisher v.
Klets, 266 F. Supp. 180 (S.D.N.Y. 1967), an accountant was sued under § 18(a).
99. Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act) § 14, 15 U.S.C. § 78n
(1976).
100. See Richardson v. Hamilton Inel Corp., FED. SEC. L. Ran. (CCH) 194,749
(E.D. Pa. 1971).
101. 248 N.W.2d 291 (Minn. 1976).
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appointed for a collapsed insurance company. Plaintiff alleged that the
defendant-accountants negligently failed to discover corporate misconduct in appropriating funds. The complaint was that the accountants'
workpapers were inaccurate and that the misstatements were relied
upon by state officials in their examination of the company's financial
records. The accountants knew that such reliance would take place.
The Court imposed liability based upon a negligence theory developed
in section 552 of the tentative draft of the Restatement of Torts, which
provides:
InfornationNegligently Supplied for The Guidance of Others.
(1) One who, in the course of his business, profession,
or employment, or in a transaction in which he has a pecuniary interest, supplies false information for the guidance of
others in their business transactions, is subject to liability for
pecuniary loss caused to them by their justifiable reliance
upon the information, if he fails to exercise reasonable
care or competence in obtaining or communicating the information.
(2) Except as stated in subsection (3), the liability
stated in subsection (1) is limited to loss suffered
(a) By the person or one of the persons for whose benefit and guidance he intends to supply the information, or
knows that the recipient intends to supply it; and
(b) Through reliance upon it in a transaction which he
intends the information to influence, or knows that the recipient so intends, or in a substantially similar transaction.
(3) The liability of one who is under a public duty to
give the information extends to loss suffered by any of the
class of persons for whose benefit the duty is created, in any
of the transactions in which it is intended to protect them. 0 2
The court imposed liability despite the fact that the misrepresentations were not made in an accounting opinion certifying financial statements pursuant to a prior audit' 03 The court likewise refused to adopt
the rule of Ultramares Corp. v. Touche,es in which Justice Cardozo
asserted that accountants could only be liable to third parties if their
conduct constituted fraud and not merely negligence. The Minnesota
102.

RESTATEUMiNT OF TORTS

at 298-99).
103. 248 N.W2d at 299.

§ 552 (Tent. Draft No. 12) (quoted at 248 N.W2d

104. 255 N.Y. 170, 174 N.E. 441 (1931). A court recently found that an accountant's knowing participation in the issuance of a false and misleading financial
statement satisfied the Ultramares test for common law fraud. Berkowitz v. Baron,
428 F. Supp. 1190, 1196-97 (S.D.N.Y. 1977).
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court concluded that the accountant was liable in damages to all persons
"who, although not themselves foreseen, are members of a limited class
whose reliance on the representation is specifically foreseen." 105 The
impact of Bonhiver could be substantial. Because the scienter limitation imposed by Ernst in rule 10b-5 actions is not binding upon section
552 suits, state courts are free to impose or not impose the requirement
of mental intention in formulating their own theories of accountant
liability.
In summary, a civil action for damages against accountants for
violation of the securities laws will require a showing of intentional
conduct or scienter. Only section 11 of the Securities Act provides a
clear negligence standard, but that section is limited to registration
statements and prospectuses' 0 8
The status of SEC injunctive actions is uncertain because the
Supreme Court has not ruled on whether scienter should be a necessary
element in such cases 1 0 Furthermore, although injunctive relief may

effectively deter future misconduct, it will not provide the investing
public with a means of recouping past losses.
The ALl-proposed federal securities code would expand application of the negligence standard to all material misstatements and omissions in filings required by the SEC.1 0 However, communications to
the investing public would not be covered unless such a filing had been
made. The Metcalf subcommittee report concurred in the conclusion
that negligence, was the appropriate standard by which to judge auditors' liability to private parties' 0 9
V. CRimiNAir LIABILITY
Criminal prosecutions for securities violations are brought by the
Justice Department, generally after referral by the SEC.?0 Account105. 248 N.W2d at 301-02. The court further stated that § 552 itself limited
accountant liability appropriately. Id. at 302-04. See generally Prosser, Mi.srepresentation and Third Persons, 19 VAxW. L. R1v. 231 (1966); Note, Accountants"
Liability to Third Parties for an Audit, 52 MARQ. L. R v. 158 (1968) ; Comment,
Accountant Liable to Third Party for Negligent Misrepresentation, 53 MINr. L.
REv. 1375 (1969).
106. Further, the statute of limitations is relatively short but may be tolled in
appropriate circumstances, especially when a right of action has been implied and the
court may choose the applicable state statute. See Long v. Abbott Mortgage Corp.,
424 F. Supp. 1095 (D. Conn. 1976).
107. See note 83 supra.
108. ALl, F ERAL Srcum'rs CoDB § 1403 (Tent. Draft No. 2, March 1973).
For an overview of the proposed federal law, see H. BoomEHAi & S. WNG,
SEcuImU's LAw (1973).
109. SuncomznTm REoRT, sitPra note 6, at 19.
110. Securities Act of 1933 §20, 15 U.S.C. §77t (1976).
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ants have been criminally prosecuted under these provisions. 1 " Section
24 of the Securities Act 2 subjects any person who willfully violates
any provision of that Act or makes a material misrepresentation or
omission of fact required by the Act to a maximum penalty of a
$10,000 fine and five years' imprisonment. Section 32(a) of the
Exchange Act" provides that any person who willfully and knowingly makes a materially false or misleading statement in any filing
pursuant to the Act or rules and regulations thereunder may be subject
to a maximum penalty of a fine of $10,000 and two years' imprisonment. However, imprisonment cannot be imposed under section 32(a)
for violation of a rule or regulation if the defendant had no knowledge
of such rule or regulation.""
111. The criminal prosecution of accountants for securities violations has been

the subject of several articles: Mathews, Criminal Prosecutions Under the Federal
SecuritiesLaws and Related Statutes: The Nature and Developnent of SEC Criminal
Cases, 39 Gno. WAsH. L. Rnv. 901 (1971) ; Comment, Criminal Liability of Public
Accountants: A Lurking Nightmare?, 67 3. Cm. L. & CanmrmoLoGY 32 (1977);
Note, The Criminal Liability of Public Accountants: A Study of United States v.
Simon, 46 Nom DAsam LAw. 564 (1971). See also 3 L. Loss, Sacuarrs REGULA.TioN 1984-94 (2d ed. 1961); 6 L. Loss, SECUmTIS REGuLATION 4123-38 (Supp.

1969).

112. Securities Act of 1933 §24, 15 U.S.C. § 77x (1976) provides:
Any person who willfully violates any of the provisions of this subchapter,
or the rules and regulations promulgated by the Commission under authority
thereof, or any person who willfully, in a registration statement filed under
this subchapter, makes any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to
state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make
the statements therein not misleading, shall upon conviction be fined not more
than $10,000 or imprisoned not more than five years, or both.
113. Securities Exchange Act of 1934 §32(a), 15 U.S.C. §78ff(a)

(1976)

provides:

(a) Any person who willfully violates any provision of this chapter, or
any rule or regulation thereunder the violation of which is made unlawful or
the observance of which is required under the terms of this chapter, or any
person who willfully and knowingly makes, or causes to be made, any statement in any application, report, or document required to be filed under this
chapter or any rule or regulation thereunder or any undertaking contained in
a registration statement as provided in subsection (d) of section 78o of this
title or by any self-regulatory organization in connection with an application
for membership or participation therein or to become associated with a
member thereof, which statement was false or misleading with respect to
any material fact, shall upon conviction be fined not more than $10,000, or
imprisoned not more than five years, or both, except that when such person
is an exchange, a fine not exceeding $500,000 may be imposed; but no person
shall be subject to imprisonment under this section for the violation of any
rule or regulation if he proves that he had no knowledge of such rule or
regulation.

The distinction between "willfully" and "knowingly" is not clearly drawn in the
cases. The most recent interpretation is that the latter element requires a showing
that defendant knew of the existence of the statute, rule or regulation pursuant to
which a false statement was made. United States v. Dixon, 536 F2d 1388, 1395-97
(2d Cir. 1976). However, this reading makes the last sentence of the statute
redundant.

114. See 536 F.2d 1388.
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Criminal penalties are available under other federal securities
although there have been no cases against accountants under
them. An accountant may also be prosecuted under the Mail Fraud
Act,a" 6 the federal conspiracy statute,1 the federal false statements
provisions,1B and for aiding and abetting any of the other violations.11 9
In United States v. White,2 0 the court upheld the conviction of
an accountant for conspiracy to prepare false financial statements even
though the prosecution did not prove knowledge of the falsity of the
facts upon which the statement was based. United States v. Benjamin, n2 involved an accountant who had issued a favorable report on
a corporation's future prospects when facts and circumstances known
to him clearly indicated to the contrary. In imposing criminal liability,
the court ruled that ignorance of obvious facts could not be a defense
by an accountant. One commentator has concluded: "Benjamin . . .
articulates the rule that reckless disregard for the truth of financial
statements may be sufficient to permit imposition of criminal sanctions
against public accountants." 11
White and Benjamin involved blatant misrepresentations in which
a clear intention to falsify financial data was shown. In such circum2
stances, courts have been willing to impose criminal sanctions. M
4
A more difficult question arose in United States v. Simon 2
which concerned a misleading footnote in a financial statement. The
footnote did not reveal that a substantial account receivable due from
an affiliated corporation was uncollectible, thereby significantly overstating assets in the financial statement of the creditor. Defendantaccountants, three members of an international accounting firm, were
convicted of conspiracy to violate section 32 of the Exchange Act, the
acts,1 1 5

115. Trust Indenture Act of 1939, §325, 15 U.S.C. § 77yyy (1976) ; Public Utility

Holding Company Act of 1935, §29, 15 U.S.C. § 79z-3 (1976) ; Investment Company
Act of 1940, §49, 15 U.S.C. § 80a-48 (1976) ; Investment Advisors Act of 1940, §217,
15 U.S.C. §80b-17.
116. 18 U.S.C. § 1341 (1976).
117. 18 U.S.C. § 371 (1976).
118. 18 U.S.C. § 1001 (1976).
119. See 3 L. Loss, SEcumnrIIs RGourATioN 1990-91 (1961).
120. 124 F.2d 181 (2d Cir. 1941). For a discussion of this case, zee Comment,
Criminal Liability of Public Accountants: A Lurking Nightmare?, otpra note 111,
at 36-37.
121. 328 F.2d 854 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 377 U.S. 953 (1964).
122. Comment, Criminal Liability of Public Accountants: A Lurking Nightmare?,
mepra note 111, at 37.
123. See, e.g., United States v. Zane, 495 F2d 683 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 419
U.S. 895 (1974) ; United States v. Bruce, 488 F2d 1224 (5th Cir. 1973), cert. denied,
.419 U.S. 825 (1974); Getchell v. United States, 282 F.2d 681 (5th Cir. 1960). These
cases are noted at Comment, Criminal Liability of Public Accountants: A Lurking
NightmareF, sipra note 111, at 37 n.65.
124. 425 F2d 796 (2d Cir. 1969), cert. denied, 397 U.S. 1006 (1970). See
Fiflis, supr.a note 62, at 67-73.
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,mail fraud statute, the federal false statements statutes and of substantive mail fraud offenses. The defense argued that generally accepted
accounting principles formed the standard by which their conduct
should be judged. The court rejected this contention and approved
the following standard with which the trial court had instructed
the jury:
[Tihe "critical test" was whether the financial statements as
a whole "fairly presented the financial position of Continental
[creditor] as of September 30, 1962, and whether it accurately reported the operations for fiscal 1962." If they did
not, the basic issue became whether defendants acted in good
faith. Proof of compliance with generally accepted standards was "evidence which may be very persuasive but not
necessarily conclusive that he acted in good faith, and that the
facts as certified were not materially false or misleading." '
The court described the accountant's duty in these circumstances
as requiring him "to disclose what he knows when he has reason to
believe that, to a material extent, a corporation is being operated not
to carry out its business in the interest of all stockholders but for the
private benefit of its president." 126
Finally, the court stated that once an accountant has reason to
believe that corporate business is not being honestly conducted, generally accepted accounting principles must be abandoned for more extended procedures which confirm or dispel his suspicions about corporate misconduct. Corporate dishonesty must be fully disclosed. 2
No prison sentence was imposed but of the three defendants, two were
fined $5,000 each and one was fined $7,000.
United States v. Natelli 2" arose from the National Student Marketing (NSM) securities fraud scandal. Natelli, a partner in Peat,
Marwick, Mitchell & Co., and Scansaroli, an employee thereof, were
convicted of violating section 32 (a) of the Exchange Act. It was held
that they willfully and knowingly made false and misleading statements with respect to material facts in a NSM proxy statement filed
with the SEC. The proxy statement concerned NSM's several proposed mergers and a proposed increase in authorized capital stock.
Sales and earnings were overstated in a footnote citing a 1968 audited
financial statement. Project commitments were included in income on a
percentage-of-completion basis despite the fact that such commitments
125. 425 F2d at 805-06 (quoting trial court).
126. Id. at 806.
127. Id. at 806-07.
128. 527 F.2d 311 (2d Cir. 1975), cert. denied, 425 U.S. 934 (1976).
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had not been booked during the fiscal year and were not in writing.
The following year an adjustment was made on the books by writing
off these tenuous sales. However, the adjustment was not reflected in
the audited financial statement included in the proxy statement for the
prior year which indicated a substantial profit rather than the more
accurate and significant loss which NSM had incurred. By netting a
large tax credit (an extraordinary item) with the unrelated write-off
of sales and profits (an ordinary item), the latter material fact was
concealed. The questioned footnote, as changed to its final form by
Natelli, did not disclose the substance of the adjustments explained

above.
The proxy statement also required an unaudited nine-month earnings statement for 1969. Similar adjustments were made with respect to contracts which were not firm commitments. The statement

failed to disclose that in reality NSM had no profit in the first nine
months of 1969.1 9

Defendants argued that no formal reaudit was done or required
of the 1968 figures, and thus they could not be found criminally liable
for the mistakes. In rejecting this contention, the court stated:
The accountant has a duty to correct the earlier financial
statement which he had audited himself and upon which he
had issued his certificate, when he discovers "that the figures
in the annual report were substantially false and misleading,"
and he has a chance to correct them ....

The accountant

owes a duty to the public not to assert a privilege of silence
until1the
next audited annual statement comes around in due
80

time.

Furthermore, the Second Circuit asserted that an accountant may not
"shut his eyes in reckless disregard of his knowledge that highly suspicious figures, known to him to be suspicious, were being included
in the unaudited earnings figure with which he was 'associated' in the
proxy statement." "I
The trial court's instruction on the requisite mental element was
upheld. It stated, inter alia,
you are entitled to consider in determining whether a defendant acted with [guilty knowledge or] intent if he deliberately closed his eyes to the obvious or to the facts that
certainly would be observed or ascertained in the course of
his accounting work or whether he recklessly stated "as facts
matters of which he knew he was ignorant.
129. For a detailed discussion of the facts with respect to the nine-month statement, see 527 F2d at 317-18.
130. 527 F2d at 319 (citations omitted).
131. Id. at 320.
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If you find such reckless deliberate indifference to or disregard for truth or falsity on the part of a given defendant,
the law entitles you to infer therefrom that the defendant wilfully and knowingly filed or caused to be filed false
3 2 financial information of a material nature with the SEC.
Finally, with respect to defendant's argument that it had complied with accounting standards, the court stated: "[t]he issue of this
appeal is not what an auditor is generally under a duty to do with
respect to an unaudited statement, but what these defendants had a
duty to do in these unusual and highly suspicious circumstances." 'a
In an unprecedented move, Judge Tyler sentenced Natelli to one
year imprisonment and imposed a $10,000 fine, suspending all but
sixty days of imprisonment. Scansaroli was sentenced to one year and
fined $2,500 with all but ten days of imprisonment suspended.' 84
There have been no cases involving criminal liability of accountants since Natelli. The relationship between Ernst's civil action
scienter requirement and future criminal prosecutions is unclear and
will be considered in the next section.
VI. DEVELOPING A RATIONAL APPROACH FOR SANCTIONS
AGAINST ACCOUNTANTS

The present structure for imposing liability upon accountants for
securities violations poses several inherent dilemmas. A threshold
problem relates to the unclear demarcation between civil and criminal
sanctions. In certain areas of the law the same provision may constitute the basis for imposition of civil and criminal penalties; the distinguishing factor for criminality is possession of the requisite mental
element. In the securities law area a mental element is required for
either sanction. The securities statutes provide criminal sanctions for
"willful" or "willful and knowing" violations. 3 5 Similarly, the holding in Ernst mandates a showing of scienter in civil actions for damages unless the statute specifically states otherwise.' 86 In Ernst the
132. Id. at 322 n.9. The court also approved of Judge Tyler's jury instruction
that good faith, e.g., "an honest belief in the truth of the data set forth in the footnote
and entries in the proxy statement," constituted a complete defense. Id. at 322.
133. Id. at 323.
134. The Second Circuit reversed Scansaroli's conviction after finding that the
evidence failed to sustain the requisite criminal intent with respect to an accounting
judgment permitting NSM to include in sales certain unfinished contracts with
requisite criminal intent. 527 F.2d at 321.
135. Svipra notes 112-13.
136. The major exception is violation of registration requirements under § 11
of the Securities Act of 1933. See text accompanying notes 58-76 Mupra. The future
standard in actions under § 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 is not readily ascertainable. See text accompanying notes 95-96 mepra.
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Supreme Court reserved the issue of whether degrees of mental inten7
tion will provide the dividing line between civil and criminal offenses.18
This development of concurrent elements for criminal and civil
liability has undesirable effects. Judges may be hesitant to make a
finding of scienter in a civil case for fear that such a determination
will subject the defendant to a subsequent criminal prosecution. 3 8
Thus a single determination can trigger two proceedings with massive
liability. Similarly, a finding of no scienter will absolve the defendant
of all liability. The SEC and prosecutors can mitigate this harsh
result by referring or bringing criminal cases only when an egregious
mental intention is present. However, it has been said that the SEC
decision on whether to proceed for civil injunctive relief or to refer a
case for criminal prosecution "is based more on practical factors such
as the prosecutor's personal reaction to the case and its potential appeal to a jury, rather than a formal and theoretical policy toward the
use of the criminal sanction." 139
A second question raised by the present structure is how to impose entity liability for violations requiring a showing of mental intention. Since Big Eight accounting firms have hundreds of offices
and thousands of auditors, it is senseless to attempt to define a decisionmaking nucleus which could be deemed to form an "intention" for the
firm with respect to a particular audit. If liability is to be imposed on
accountants under provisions requiring scienter, the doctrine of vicarious liability should be used to impute the mental intention of the
individual accountant to the entity. This is particularly true since
financial statements are certified in the firm name. Such an approach
would reduce the complications in trying to define a fictional corporate
scienter.
A further issue with respect to intention relates to the fact that
most accounting firms, including the Big Eight, are organized as
partnerships. The general rule in partnership law is that every partner
is imputed to have the knowledge of all other partners. 4 0 This legal
137. In Ernst, characterization of reckless and grossly negligent conduct was
reserved. See note 81 stpra.
138. Res judicata and collateral estoppel issues in this context have not been

considered by the courts. Since the standards of proof differ, a determination in a

prior civil action will not be conclusive in a subsequent criminal case.

139. Culver, Developing Criteria to Distiguislz Civil and Criminal Antitrust

Violatiow, as quoted in 2 L. OLAnn, CoRvoPATE Cnmr 735, 747-48 (unpublished
1977). See geerally Mathews & Sullivan, Criminzal Liability for Violatio;s of the

Federal Securities Laws: The National Commissiotes Proposed Federal Criminal

Code, 11 Am. Canx. L. REV. 883, 915-16 (1973); Mathews, .rpra note 111.

Cf.

Burton, SEC Enforcement and Professional Accountants: Philosopity, Objectives and

Approach, 28 V.im. L. REv. 19, 24 (1975).
140. This is known as the deputization theory. See Blau v. Lehman, 368 U.S.
403 (1962), where the Supreme Court refused to adopt this doctrine in a case in-
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doctrine is an absurdity when considering an international accounting
enterprise. Imposition of criminal sanctions on individuals, particularly
imprisonment, should be limited to those persons who actually possessed the requisite mens rea as well as performed the prohibited
conduct41
Despite these difficulties a strong argument can be made for imposing criminal sanctions on the accounting entity. The organization
establishes auditing procedures and guidelines. Defective controls and
standards can often be the cause of injury. For example, in BarChris,
the S-1 review conducted under Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co.'s
standard procedures failed to uncover the fraud.'
Also, in making
the review the auditor felt no obligation to go beyond mere reliance on
information verbally conveyed to him by corporate officers. Similarly,
in Simon and Natelli, guidelines set by the accounting firms did not
induce or compel the auditors to make fuller disclosure. Since the
audit is conducted pursuant to procedures set by the entity's decisionmakers and applied to all corporate clients, it may be asserted that the
entity played an integral role in the accounting misconduct. Certainly
in every case where an individual has been prosecuted the primary
defense has been compliance with firm or industry procedures. It is
difficult to place ultimate responsibility for misstatements on one individual when many people are involved in an audit. Moreover, each
individual's role is often defined by structural procedures for entity
operation.
One final argument for entity liability is that a partnership will
not have "innocent stockholders" who would suffer therefrom. However, this does not mean that an accounting entity operating in corporate form should be immune from liability, but merely supports the
conclusion that arguments against entity liability generally may not
presently apply in the accounting firm context. Thus, sanctions directed
at the entity itself, as already applied in a few instances of SEC rule
2(e) proceedings,14 might be appropriate in judicial proceedings
as well.
The experience of Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co. (PMM) may
be illustrative (this firm was involved in both the BarChrvand Natelli
cases), although data on settlements and other dispositions is too
limited to single out any accounting firm as any more or less culpable
with respect to securities law problems. PMM's institutional review
volving insider trading in corporate securities under § 16 of the Securities Fxcange
Act of 1934.
141. See also Commonwealth v. IKoczara, 397 Pa. 575, 155 A2d 825 (1959).
142. See note 69 supra.

143. See text accompanying notes 44-48 supra.
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failed to uncover the fraud in BarChris. Natelli and fellow accountants
at PMM were responsible for accounting mishaps related to the
Further, PMM's procedures
National Student Marketing fiasco.'
were reviewed and problems were found which related to the finn's
work in four other audits of major corporations. 4 ' The gist of the
release focused on defects in the entity's review standards. If sanctions
had been imposed directly on the entity at an earlier time, these mishaps
might have been prevented. The most recent experience of PMM was
an absence of mishaps and supports the contention that institutional
review can be effective. Moreover, review of the practices of one
accounting firm would probably identify items requiring corrective
action to improve control procedures for all firms.
The appropriate criminal penalty is also problematic. One alternative is fines. However, even the imposition of a $10,000 fine would
not be a strong deterrent for Big Eight firms, whose combined gross
revenues in 1975 were greater than $2 billion and whose net earnings
were in excess of $500 million. Perhaps an effective measure would
be a much higher maximum fine for entitles and a separate limit on
individuals.
Second, probation might be an appropriate sanction since the
entity is able to control procedures. The SEC could be charged with
reviewing the firm's auditing standards for a two-year probationary
period during which procedures would have to be rectified. Further
penalties could be imposed if the firm permitted questionable conduct
to continue after being put on initial notice.
Nonetheless, establishment of a system of responsible auditing
should not be directed solely at ascertaining appropriate sanctions but
at preventative measures as well. By focusing on sanctions, policy
recommendations are likely to be concentrated on how to punish misconduct which has already occurred. This is a backward approach in
that it begins with the end result as a means of inducing desirable
behavior. Increasing sandtions will not necessarily have strong deterrent effects. Trying to compensate an indeterminant number of innocent victims, including stockholders, creditors, and the general public,
may not be effective either. First, it would be nearly impossible to
determine the full extent of the class of plaintiffs. Second, complete
compensation for loss might bankrupt the accounting entity first, thus
leaving plaintiffs' claims only partially vindicated.
'In contrast, a preventative approach would be more effective.
This approach would be oriented toward procedural defects and would
144. SEC Accounting Release No. 173, supra note 44.

145. Sutpra note 47. See-also SEC v. .Republic Nat!I Life Ins. Co., 378 F. Supp.
430 (S.D.N.Y. 1974).
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be more useful in reducing future auditing misbehavior and in facilitating the imposition of presently existing sanctions. Moreover, the
sanction dilemma is complicated by an inherent conflict in the present
structure of the auditing system. While an accountant owes a duty
to the public,' 4 6 he is also interested in the prosperity of corporate
clients to whom he provides financial and other advice. In the final
analysis, "there is no legal obligation on an accountant to report to
the Commission or other governmental authority his client's errors,
omissions and misdeeds." 147 The competing demands of maintaining
independence and serving the client make imposition of sanctions difficult. The accountant is often able to argue reliance on one obligation
as a defense to charges that he neglected all countervailing duties.
True independence can be achieved only by resolving the conflict in favor of the responsibility to the public to insure honesty in
financial reporting. One possibility would be to provide, by statute
or regulation, that the auditor who certifies financial statements may
not represent the audited corporation in any other financial capacity.
Thus, the auditing function would be separated from all other accounting activities. The independent auditor could not have represented the audited corporation for at least five years.
One potential drawback of this proposal is that it might compound conflict of interest situations since more than one accounting
firm would be privy to a business' financial information. However,
with only eight major accounting firms, it is difficult to argue that
conflict problems could be more aggravated. Perhaps entry of smaller
accounting establishments into the auditing market would be encouraged by the proposal.
Firms may be unwilling to certify financial statements absent the
inducement of providing other accounting services. Thus, an alternative would be to establish a governmental auditing agency as a division of the SEC or Government Accounting Office. However, this
solution is not a foolproof panacea as illustrated in Bonhiver v. Graff,' 48
where state financial examiners failed to uncover accounting misstatements in their review of the insurance company's books.
Whether the foregoing proposals are adopted or not, a systemic
approach must be developed to insure independence and objectivity in
the accounting profession. Auditing procedures should be reviewed
146. See note 7 .rupra and accompanying text. SEC Chairman Williams has

REPorT,
stated that "the fundamental problem is one of independence." Suncommin
.supranote 6, at 5.
147. Isbell, supra note 44, at 278.
148. 248 N.W.2d 291 (Minn. 1976). See text accompanying notes 101-05 supra.
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on a continuing basis, not only after a financial catastrophe.14 9 GAAP
and GAAS should be more rigorous in requiring that the presentation
of financial data be made in the fairest manner to insure the fullest
possible disclosure.1 50
It is crucial that accounting standards be more vigorous since
accounting problems are often the result of omissions rather than affirmative misstatements. In such cases mens rea cannot be easily inferred. Therefore, standards should be clearly specified so that the
accountant's duty is unmistakable in the particular circumstances. Because an omission constitutes a breach of duty, an explicit statement
of the obligation facilitates the determination of mens rea if it becomes
an issue at a later date. GAA-P and GAAS currently provide minimum standards, leaving much room for alternative methods of presenting financial data. This aggravates the problem of determining
whether an accountant possessed the requisite mental intention which
would constitute a violation of the law. Deviant behavior can be more
readily identified if guidelines for the desired behavior are clear. For
self-apparent reasons, it is suggested that the government rather than
the profession itself should set these standards. 5 ' One final proposal relates to the present composition of the securities laws. The obligation of independence imposed on the certifying
accountant distinguishes the auditor's role from all other participants
in the securities field. Rather than making the accountant's liability
derivative of the statutory provisions which govern issuers and underwriters, perhaps separate legislation should regulate the auditor's conduct. As argued above, civil and criminal violations are not dearly
distinguishable. 52 ' The provisions which characterize forbidden conduct such as "manipulative and deceptive devices" and "operates as a
fraud" are imprecise or have been made so by inconsistent court interpretation. A statutory approach setting forth meaningful standards
directed specifically toward the obligations of accountants would facilitate regulation of their conduct. Precise guidelines should be established and monitored by a governmental agency. Audit duties and
attendant sanctions for their breach should be set forth in a clear and
comprehensive manner which would raise the structure for imposing
liability upon accountants from its present shadowy netherworld.
149. See SEC Accounting Series Release No. 173, slcpra note 44. Review could
be conducted by a government agency or an independent firm.
150. The report recently filed by the Metcalf subcommittee asserted: "The
independent auditor should give an opinion that the standards used are the most
appropriate under the circumstances:'

Sumcomx-nn

R.roav, .MePra note 6, at 10.

See Earle, The Fairness Myth, 28 VAr. L. REv. 147, 162-63 (1975).
151. See text accompanying notes 11, 13-14 mtpra.
152. See text accompanying notes 135-39 mipra.
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